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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. All statements other than statements of
historical facts contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking
statements by words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “contemplate,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,”
“predict,” “project,” “seek,” “should,” “target,” “will,” “would,” or the negative of these words or other comparable terminology. These forward-looking
statements include, but are not limited to, statements about:
•

our ability to obtain and maintain regulatory approval of NEXI-001 and NEXI-002 and/or our other product candidates;

•

our ability to successfully commercialize and market NEXI-001 and NEXI-002 and/or our other product candidates, if approved;

•

our ability to contract with third-party suppliers, manufacturers and other service providers and their ability to perform adequately;

•

the potential market size, opportunity and growth potential for NEXI-001 and NEXI-002 and/or our other product candidates, if approved;

•

our ability to build our own sales and marketing capabilities, or seek collaborative partners, to commercialize NEXI-001 and NEXI-002
and/or our other product candidates, if approved;

•

our ability to obtain funding for our operations;

•

the initiation, timing, progress and results of our preclinical studies and clinical trials, and our research and development programs;

•

the timing of anticipated regulatory filings;

•

the timing of availability of data from our clinical trials;

•

the impact of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and our response to it;

•

the accuracy of our estimates regarding expenses, capital requirements and needs for additional financing;

•

our ability to retain the continued service of our key professionals and to identify, hire and retain additional qualified professionals;

•

our ability to advance product candidates into, and successfully complete, clinical trials;

•

our ability to recruit and enroll suitable patients in our clinical trials;

•

the timing or likelihood of the accomplishment of various scientific, clinical, regulatory and other product development objectives;

•

the pricing and reimbursement of our product candidates, if approved;

•

the rate and degree of market acceptance of our product candidates, if approved;

•

the implementation of our business model and strategic plans for our business, product candidates and technology;

•

the scope of protection we are able to establish and maintain for intellectual property rights covering our product candidates and technology;

•

developments relating to our competitors and our industry;

•

the accuracy of our estimates regarding expenses, capital requirements and needs for additional financing;

•

the development of major public health concerns, including the novel coronavirus outbreak or other pandemics arising globally, and the future
impact of it and COVID-19 on our clinical trials, business operations and funding requirements; and

•

our financial performance.

These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including those described in the “Risk Factors”
section and elsewhere in this Form 10-Q. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment, and new risks emerge from time
to time. It is not possible for our management to predict all risks, nor can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any
factor, or combination of factors,
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may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements we may make. In light of these risks, uncertainties and
assumptions, the forward-looking events and circumstances discussed in this Form 10-Q may not occur and actual results could differ materially and
adversely from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements.
You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the
forward-looking statements are reasonable as of the date of this Form 10-Q, we cannot guarantee that the future results, levels of activity, performance or
events and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur. We undertake no obligation to update publicly any
forward-looking statements for any reason after the date of this Form 10-Q to conform these statements to new information, actual results or to changes in
our expectations, except as required by law.
You should read this Form 10-Q and the documents that we reference in this Form 10-Q and have filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or SEC, as exhibits to this Form 10-Q with the understanding that our actual future results, levels of activity, performance, and events and
circumstances may be materially different from what we expect.
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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements.
NEXIMMUNE, INC.
BALANCE SHEETS
September 30,
2021

December 31,
2020

(unaudited)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities
Restricted cash
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Other non-current assets
Total assets

$

37,256,427
55,986,355
67,500
5,416,575
98,726,857
4,287,254
1,527,596

$

5,031,079
—
67,500
3,293,858
8,392,437
2,885,260
23,373

$

104,541,707

$

11,301,070

3,501,098
3,931,449
—
—
—
—
7,432,547
—
—

$

2,760,129
2,603,027
1,702,359
843,619
7,324,267
11,793,397
27,026,798
23,529
4,935

LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
$
Accrued expenses
Derivative liability
Other current liabilities
Convertible notes issued to related parties
Convertible notes
Total current liabilities
Deferred rent, net of current portion
Other non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Redeemable convertible preferred stock
Series A Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.0001 par value, no shares outstanding as of September 30, 2021
and 121,735,303 shares authorized, issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020. Liquidation value of $42,314,789
as of December 31, 2020.
Series A-2 Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.0001 par value, no shares outstanding as of September 30, 2021
and 28,384,899 shares authorized, 22,047,361 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020. Liquidation
value of $8,683,746 as of December 31, 2020.
Series A-3 Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.0001 par value, no shares outstanding as of September 30, 2021
and 34,061,879 shares authorized, 31,209,734 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020. Liquidation
value of $11,699,176 as of December 31, 2020.
Total redeemable convertible preferred stock
Stockholders’ equity (deficit)
Common Stock, $0.0001 par value, 250,000,000 shares authorized, 22,711,247 issued and outstanding as of
September 30, 2021 and 1,256,609 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020.
Additional paid-in-capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)
Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit)

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited financial statements.
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7,432,547

27,055,262

—

35,047,435

—

7,685,865

—

10,887,449

—

53,620,749

2,271
209,324,044
702
(112,217,857)
97,109,160

126
8,206,938
—
(77,582,005)
(69,374,941)

104,541,707

$

11,301,070
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NEXIMMUNE, INC.
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(unaudited)
Three Months Ended September 30,
2021

Revenue

$

—

Operating expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses

$

2021

—

$

2020

—

$

—

11,331,189
4,159,196

4,913,055
2,752,251

25,468,770
12,254,838

13,394,483
7,406,054

15,490,385
(15,490,385)

7,665,306
(7,665,306)

37,723,608
(37,723,608)

20,800,537
(20,800,537)

19,855
—
843,619
(1,106)
(19,095)

812
(397,244)
—
(559,325)
12,328

30,319
2,424,877
843,619
(905,326)
(45,791)

20,680
(397,244)
—
(743,996)
66,329

$

843,273
(14,647,112) $

(943,429)
(8,608,735) $

2,347,698
(35,375,910) $

(824,781)

(377,562)

(2,456,413)

$

(14,647,112) $

(9,433,516) $

(35,753,472) $

(24,311,181)

(0.65) $

(7.52) $

(1.85) $

(19.38)

Loss from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Change in fair value of derivative liability
Gain on extinguishment of debt
Interest expense
Other (expense) income
Other income (expense)
Net loss
Accumulated dividends on Redeemable Convertible Preferred
Stock
Net loss attributable to common stockholders

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2020

—

Basic and diluted net loss attributable to common stockholders per
$
common share
Basic and diluted weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding

22,653,410

4

1,254,808

19,335,170

(1,054,231)
(21,854,768)

1,254,724

Table of Contents

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(unaudited)
Three Months Ended September 30,
2021

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2020

Net loss

$

(14,647,112) $

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale marketable
securities, net of tax
Comprehensive loss

$

(14,643,493) $

3,619

2021

(8,608,735) $

—
(8,608,735) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited financial statements.
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2020

(35,375,910) $

702
(35,375,208) $

(21,854,768)

(506)
(21,855,274)
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
For the Three Months Ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 (unaudited)
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock
Series A-2

Series A

Shares
Balance at July 1,
2021

—

Exercise of stock
options
Stock-based
compensation
Change in unrealized
gain on marketable
available-for-sale
securities
Net loss

Amount
—

—

—

—

—

Amount

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Balance at July 1,
2020

$

$

Shares

—

Balance at
September 30,
2021

$

Shares

Stockholders’ Deficit
Series A-3

Common Stock

Amount
—

22,628,007

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

$

$

Shares

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Amount
2,263

$ 207,480,819

83,240

8

214,794

—

—

—

1,628,431

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

22,711,247

$

2,271

$

126

$

$

$ 109,909,420

—

—

214,802

—

—

1,628,431

—

—

3,619

3,619

—

(14,647,112)

—

(14,647,112)

$ 209,324,044

$ (112,217,857) $

702

$

$

121,735,303

$ 35,047,435

22,047,361

$ 7,685,865

31,209,734

$ 10,887,449

1,254,681

—

—

—

—

—

—

271

—

838

Stock-based
compensation

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

284,458

Beneficial conversion
feature on
convertible notes

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Net loss

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

121,735,303

$ 35,047,435

22,047,361

$ 7,685,865

31,209,734

$ 10,887,449

1,254,952

6

$

126

$

6,399,823

$

(97,570,745) $

Total
Stockholders
Deficit

(2,917)

Exercise of stock
options

Balance at
September 30,
2020

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income/ (Loss)

97,109,160

—

$ (54,562,092)

—

—

838

—

—

284,458

30,369

—

—

30,369

—

(8,608,735)

—

(8,608,735)

(69,570,776)

—

$ (62,855,162)

6,715,488

$

(60,962,041) $

$
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 (unaudited)
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock
Series A-2

Series A

Stockholders’ Deficit
Series A-3

Common Stock

Shares

Amount

Shares

Amount

Shares

Amount

Shares

Balance at January
1, 2021

121,735,303

$ 35,047,435

22,047,361

$ 7,685,865

31,209,734

$ 10,887,449

1,256,609

Cumulative effect of
adoption of
accounting
standard

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Issuance of Series A
redeemable
preferred stock
upon exercise of
warrants

145,000

1,450

—

—

—

—

Conversion of
preferred stock
into common stock (121,880,303)

(35,048,885)

(22,047,361)

(7,685,865)

(31,209,734)

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Amount
$

126

$

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income/ (Loss)

Total
Stockholders
Deficit

8,206,938

$ (77,582,005)

—

$ (69,374,941)

—

(2,277,332)

740,058

—

(1,537,274)

—

—

—

—

—

—

(10,887,449)

10,144,041

1,014

53,621,185

—

—

53,622,199

Conversion of
convertible debt
into common stock

—

—

—

—

—

—

3,669,010

367

30,251,689

—

—

30,252,056

Issuance of common
stock in
connection with
the initial public
offering. net of
transaction costs

—

—

—

—

—

—

7,441,650

744

114,550,571

—

—

114,551,315

Exercise of stock
options

—

—

—

—

—

—

197,041

20

661,637

—

—

661,657

Exercise of warrants

—

—

—

—

—

—

2,896

—

—

—

—

—

Stock-based
compensation

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

4,309,356

—

—

4,309,356

Change in unrealized
gain on marketable
available-for-sale
securities

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

702

702

Net loss

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(35,375,910)

—

(35,375,910)

—

—

—

—

—

22,711,247

$

2,271

$ 209,324,044

$ (112,217,857) $

702

$

$

126

$

$ (47,716,008) $

506

$ (43,009,568)

Balance at
September 30,
2021
Balance at January
1, 2020

—

$

$

$

121,735,303

$ 35,047,435

22,047,361

$ 7,685,865

31,209,734

$ 10,887,449

1,254,681

Exercise of stock
options

—

—

—

—

—

—

271

—

838

—

—

838

Stock-based
compensation

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

943,210

—

—

943,210

Change in unrealized
gains on
marketable
available-for-sale
securities

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(506)

(506)

Beneficial conversion
feature on
convertible notes

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

1,065,632

—

—

1,065,632

Net loss

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(21,854,768)

—

(21,854,768)

121,735,303

$ 35,047,435

22,047,361

$ 7,685,865

31,209,734

$ 10,887,449

1,254,952

6,715,488

$ (69,570,776)

—

$ (62,855,162)

Balance at
September 30,
2020
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$

126

$

4,705,808

97,109,160
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NEXIMMUNE, INC.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited)
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Loss on asset disposal
Stock-based compensation
Non-cash interest expense
Change in fair value of derivative liability
Gain on extinguishment of debt
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses, deferred rent and other
Net cash used in operating activities

$

2020

(35,375,910) $

(21,854,768)

627,043
7,877
4,309,356
903,919
(2,424,877)

448,108
(152)
943,210
555,449
397,244

(843,619)

—

(4,549,572)
1,522,406
1,476,699

(909,163)
817,769
389,388

(34,346,678)

(19,212,915)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of equipment
Collections on employee advances
Purchase of marketable securities
Proceeds from maturities and sales of available-for-sale marketable securities
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities

(1,834,709)
464
—
(55,976,987)
—

(638,857)
550
80,224
—
1,006,371

(57,811,232)

448,288

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from initial public offering, net of transaction costs
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options
Proceeds from the exercise of warrants
Principal payments on capital leases
Proceeds from the issuance of convertible notes from related parties
Proceeds from the issuance of convertible notes
Issuance costs associated with convertible notes
Proceeds from the issuance of short-term debt
Net cash provided by financing activities

114,721,518
661,657
1,450
(12,260)
56,500
8,974,980
(20,587)
—

—
838
—
(14,773)
2,900,460
8,017,826
(132,017)
843,619

124,383,258
32,225,348
5,098,579

11,615,953
(7,148,674)
9,196,487

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Net cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period
Net cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period

$

37,323,927

$

2,047,813

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for interest

$

457

$

1,871

Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and financing activities:
Gain on extinguishment of debt from PPP loan forgiveness
Property and equipment purchases included in accounts payable and accrued expenses

$
$

843,619
272,844

$
$

—
112,417

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited financial statements.
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NEXIMMUNE, INC.
NOTES TO UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Nature of the business
NexImmune, Inc. (“Company”, “we”, “us” or “NexImmune”), a Delaware corporation headquartered in Gaithersburg, Maryland, was incorporated
on June 7, 2011. The Company is an emerging biopharmaceutical company advancing a new generation of immunotherapies based on its proprietary
Artificial Immune Modulation (AIM) technology. The AIM nanotechnology platform, originally developed at Johns Hopkins University, is the foundation
for an innovative approach to immunotherapy in which the body’s own immune system is stimulated to orchestrate a targeted T cell response against a
disease. Central to the AIM technology are AIM nanoparticles, which act as synthetic dendritic cells. These AIM nanoparticles can be programmed to
present specific antigens and co-stimulatory signals to specific T cells, generating an immune response that can be directed toward any foreign substance or
cell type in a patient’s body. The Company’s first two products, both for the treatment of different types of cancer, entered clinical trials in 2020.
2. Basis of Presentation
The accompanying unaudited financial statements were prepared in accordance with the rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”) for interim financial information. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information required by U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”) for complete financial statements. Any reference in these notes to applicable guidance is meant to refer to the authoritative
GAAP as found in the Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) and Accounting Standards Updates (“ASU”) of the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB”). These financial statements should be read in conjunction with our audited financial statements and the accompanying notes to our
financial statements contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, as filed with the SEC on March 31, 2021.
In management’s opinion, the accompanying financial statements contain all adjustments, including normal, recurring adjustments, necessary to
fairly present our financial position as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, and our statements of operations and comprehensive income,
statements of changes in redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit), and statement of cash flows for the three and nine
month periods ended September 30, 2021 and 2020. Interim results are not necessarily indicative of results for an entire year.
Recent accounting standards and pronouncements
Recently Adopted
In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, an update to ASC Topic 470, Subtopic - 20, Debt - Debt with Conversion and Other Options, and
ASC Topic 815, Subtopic - 4, Derivatives and Hedging - Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity. ASU 2020-06 simplifies the guidance for certain financial
instruments with characteristics of liability and equity, including convertible instruments and contracts on an entity’s own equity by reducing the number of
accounting models for convertible instruments and amends guidance in ASC Topic 260, Earnings Per Share, relating to the computation of earnings per
share for convertible instruments and contracts on an entity’s own equity. ASU 2020-06 is effective for interim and annual reporting periods in fiscal years
that begin after December 15, 2021, with early adoption permitted for fiscal years that begin after December 15, 2020. The Company early adopted this
standard effective January 1, 2021 using the modified retrospective method. Under this standard, only conversion features embedded in the debt instrument
that are accounted for as derivatives in accordance with ASC 815 or under the substantial premium model in ASC 470, require separate accounting. Prior to
the adoption of this standard, the Company had recorded a beneficial conversion feature as a discount to convertible notes issued. Upon adoption of this
standard, the beneficial conversion feature is no longer separately accounted. As a result of applying the modified retrospective method, the Company
recognized a transition adjustment of $0.7 million recorded in accumulated deficit, a reduction of additional paid-in capital of $2.2 million and an increase
to the carrying value of the convertible notes of $1.5 million on January 1, 2021.
Not Yet Adopted
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (ASC 842). The guidance amends the existing accounting standards for lease
accounting, including requirements for lessees to recognize assets and liabilities related to long-term leases on the balance sheet and expanding disclosure
requirements regarding leasing arrangements. Leases will be classified as finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern and classification of
expense recognition in the
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income statement. In July 2018, the FASB issued additional guidance, which offers a transition option to entities adopting ASC 842 in which entities can
elect to apply the new guidance using a modified retrospective approach at the beginning of the year in which the new lease standard is adopted.. The
Company currently expects to utilize this transition option whereby financial information for prior periods presented before the ASC 842 effective date will
not be updated. In November 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-10 deferring the effective date for private entities for fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2020 and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. In June 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-05 which further defers the
effective date for private entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021 and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2022.
The Company will adopt the new leasing guidance on January 1, 2022 and is currently evaluating the effect ASC 842 will have on its financial
statements and related disclosures. ASC 842 provides a number of optional practical expedients in transition. The Company expects to apply the ‘package
of practical expedients’ which allow us to not reassess i) whether existing or expired arrangements contain a lease, ii) the lease classification of existing or
expired leases, or iii) whether previous initial direct costs would qualify for capitalization under the new lease standard.
The Company currently expects the recognition of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets to impact its consolidated balance sheet and lease-related
disclosures in the footnotes to the financial statements. The Company does not currently expect ASC 842 to have a material impact to its statements of
operations or cash flows.
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326), which modifies the measurement of expected
credit losses on certain financial instruments. In addition, for available-for-sale debt securities, the standard eliminates the concept of other-than-temporary
impairment and requires the recognition of an allowance for credit losses rather than reductions in the amortized cost of the securities. The standard is
effective for fiscal year beginning after December 15, 2022, and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2022 and requires a modified-retrospective
approach with a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings as of the beginning of the first reporting period. Early adoption is permitted. Based on
the composition of the Company’s investment portfolio, current market conditions and historical credit loss activity, the adoption of ASU 2016-13 is not
expected to have a material impact on its financial position, results of operations or the related disclosures.
3. Cash and Cash Equivalents, Restricted cash, and Marketable Securities
The following table presents the Company’s cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020:
September 30, 2021

Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash
Money market funds
Fixed income debt securities
Total Cash and cash equivalents

$

307,646
21,950,061
14,998,720

December 31, 2020

$

37,256,427
67,500

Restricted cash
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash

$

37,323,927

105,888
4,925,191
—

Recurring Fair
Value Measurement

Level 1
Level 2

5,031,079
67,500
$

5,098,579

The Company considers all investments in highly liquid financial instruments with an original maturity of three months or less at the date of
purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are stated at amortized cost, plus accrued interest, which approximates fair value.
Amounts included in restricted cash represent those required as collateral on corporate credit cards.
Marketable Securities
Marketable securities consist of fixed-income debt securities with an original maturity in excess of ninety days. These investments are classified as
available-for-sale and are carried at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses, net of taxes, are reported as a component of other comprehensive income or
loss. Realized gains and losses are reported as other income (expense) within the statement of operations. The specific identification method is used to
determine the cost basis of the marketable securities sold. There were no realized gains or losses on the sale of marketable securities for the three and nine
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month ended periods ended September 30, 2021 and 2020. The Company regularly monitors and evaluates the fair value of its investments to identify
other-than-temporary declines in value. The Company determined that any decline in fair value of these investments is temporary as the Company does not
intend to sell these securities and it is not likely that the Company will be required to sell the securities before the recovery of their amortized cost basis.
As of September 30, 2021, the Company’s marketable securities consisted of only fixed-income securities that mature within one year. The
amortized cost of these securities amounted to $56.0 million, and the estimated fair value amounted to $56.0 million as of September 30, 2021. The gross
unrealized gains and gross unrealized losses on these marketable securities were not material as of September 30, 2021. All marketable securities are
measured as Level 2 investments. As of December 31, 2020, the Company did not hold any marketable securities.
4. Fair Value Measurements
The Company’s financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, accounts payable, accrued expenses, convertible
notes and derivative liabilities. The fair values of the cash and cash equivalents, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximated their carrying values
as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 due to their short-term maturities. The Convertible Notes as discussed in Note 10 contain embedded
derivative features that were required to be bifurcated and remeasured to fair value at each reporting period while those instruments were outstanding.
The Company accounts for recurring and nonrecurring fair value measurements in accordance with ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements (“ASC
820”). ASC 820 defines fair value, establishes a fair value hierarchy for assets and liabilities measured at fair value, and requires expanded disclosures
about fair value measurements. The ASC hierarchy ranks the quality of reliability of inputs, or assumptions, used in the determination of fair value, and
requires assets and liabilities carried at fair value to be classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories:
Level 1 - Fair value is determined by using unadjusted quoted prices that are available in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.
Level 2 - Fair value is determined by using inputs, other than Level 1 quoted prices that are directly and indirectly observable. Inputs can
include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities in inactive
markets. Related inputs can also include those used in valuation or other pricing models that can be corroborated by observable
market data.
Level 3 - Fair value is determined by inputs that are unobservable and not corroborated by market data. Use of these inputs involves
significant judgments to be made by a reporting entity.
In instances where the determination of the fair value measurement is based on inputs from different levels of fair value hierarchy, the fair value
measurement will fall within the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The Company periodically evaluates
financial assets and liabilities subject to fair value measurements to determine the appropriate level at which to classify them each reporting period. This
determination requires the Company to make judgments as to the significance of inputs used in determining fair value and where such inputs lie within the
ASC 820 hierarchy.
The Company’s derivative liability related to certain features embedded within the Company’s Convertible Notes as discussed in Note 10. The
derivative was accounted for as a liability and remeasured to fair value as of each balance sheet date until the Convertible Notes were converted into shares
of common stock upon the Company’s completion of the Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) on February 11, 2021. The related remeasurement adjustments are
recognized in the accompanying statements of operations.
During the period ended September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 the Company did not have any transfers between levels. There were no Level
3 recurring fair value measurements as of September 30, 2021. The following table presents activity related to the Company’s fair value measurements
categorized as Level 3 of the valuation hierarchy, valued on a recurring basis:
Balance as of December 31, 2020
Fair value of derivative liabilities issued
Incremental expense related to fair value changes in derivative liabilities
Balance as of September 30, 2021
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1,702,359
722,518
(2,424,877)

$

—

Table of Contents

The following table represents the Company’s fair value hierarchy for its financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis:
September 30, 2021
Level 1

Assets
Money market funds
Fixed income debt securities

December 31, 2020

Level 2

Level 3

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

$

21,950,061
—

$

— $
70,985,075

— $
—

— $
—

— $
—

—
—

$

21,950,061

$

70,985,075

—

—

—

$

—

Liability
Derivative liability
$

$

$

$

—

—

—

—

— $

1,702,359

— $

— $

— $

— $

— $

1,702,359

The fair value of the derivative liability was determined using a binomial lattice model by calculating and comparing the fair value of the
Convertible Notes with and without the embedded features.
Key inputs into this valuation model are ( l) the probability of various events which result in conversion prior to the maturity of the Convertible
Notes; (2) the estimated timing of conversion; (3) time period to maturity; (4) the fair value of the Company’s stock underlying the Convertible Notes
within each scenario; (5) the expected volatility of the Company’s stock through the various events resulting in conversion; (6) the risk-adjusted discount
rate; and (7) the Company’s stock dividend yield.
The recurring Level 3 fair value measurements of the embedded features of the Convertible Notes issued in January 2021 include the following
significant unobservable inputs:
Unobservable Input

Assumptions

Probabilities of conversion provisions
Estimated timing of conversion (years)
Time period to maturity (years)
Fair value of the Company’s stock
Stock price volatility
Risk-adjusted discount rate
Dividend yield

5%-50%
0.13-0.31
0.31
$0.45-$0.56
76-90%
25.56%
0%

Significant changes to these assumptions would result in increases or decreases to the fair value of the derivative liability. There were no Convertible
Notes issued after January 2021. Immediately before the conversion of the Convertible Notes on February 11, 2021, the derivative liability was remeasured
to fair value which the Company concluded was immaterial. The derivative liability was remeasured to zero. There were no derivative instruments after
February 11, 2021.
5. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020:
September 30,
2021

December 31,
2020

Prepaid research and development expenses

$

$

Prepaid maintenance agreements
Prepaid insurance
Prepaid other
Deferred financing costs
Other current assets
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets

3,774,527
184,910
1,223,944
201,715
—
31,479

1,894,785
144,575
98,421
124,929
952,633
78,515

$

5,416,575

$

3,293,858

12

Table of Contents

6. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consist of the following at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020:
September 30,
2021

Laboratory equipment

$

5,615,829
456,063
47,877
214,373

Computer equipment and software
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements

December 31,
2020

$

6,334,142
(2,046,888)

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization
Total Property and equipment, net

$

4,287,254

3,801,545
305,214
47,877
153,965
4,308,601
(1,423,341)

$

2,885,260

Depreciation and amortization expense was $240,708 and $157,359 for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, and $635,709 and
$448,109 for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Laboratory equipment includes $0.5 million in equipment received but not
yet placed into service.
7. Accrued Expenses
A summary of the components of accrued expenses is as follows as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020:
September 30,
2021

December 31,
2020

Accrued research and development costs

$

1,189,543
385,874
2,298,245
—
—
57,787

$

Accrued professional fees
Accrued salaries, benefits and related expenses
Accrued severance
Accrued interest
Other accrued expenses
Total accrued expenses

—
135,033
1,924,405
26,724
408,315
108,550

$

3,931,449

$

2,603,027

8. Commitments and Contingencies
Maryland Biotechnology Center Grant
The Company entered into a Translational Research Award Agreement effective May 23, 2012 with the Department of Business & Economic
Development with the State of Maryland, Maryland Biotechnology Center (“MBC”). The mission of MBC is to integrate entrepreneurial strategies to
stimulate the transformation of scientific discovery and intellectual assets into capital formation and business development. Under the agreement, MBC
provided $200,000 to NexImmune for research on its artificial aAPC for cancer immunotherapy. In 2013, an amendment increased the amount by $125,000
for a total grant of $325,000. This grant was recorded as income in 2012 and 2013, as the Company incurred the expenses which qualified it for the grant.
The Company must repay the funds through annual payments calculated at 3% of annual revenues for the preceding year. Payments shall continue
for 10 years after the first payment date and may total up to 200% of the total grant amount. The end date of the agreement is defined as January 31, 2024,
or when any and all repayments due to MBC have been made. If the Company does not earn any revenue, the grant does not need to be repaid. Through
September 30, 2021, no revenue has been recorded, therefore, no payments to MBC are due.
Johns Hopkins University Exclusive License Agreement
The Company entered into an Exclusive License Agreement with Johns Hopkins University (“JHU”) effective June 2011, which was amended and
restated in January 2017, referred to as the A&R JHU License Agreement, under which there are license fees, royalties, and milestone payments. As part of
the agreement, the Company acquired a perpetual, exclusive license
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from JHU covering its invention related to Antigen Specific T cells. In consideration for the Exclusive License Agreement, the Company made an upfront
payment of $155,000 and issued 26,918 shares of Common Stock.
JHU was also entitled to milestone fees of $75,000 in connection with clinical trial milestones. For the first licensed product or licensed service in
the therapeutic field, the Company may be required to pay JHU additional aggregate milestone fees of $1.6 million for clinical and regulatory milestone
fees. The Company may be required to pay JHU reduced milestone fees for the second and third licensed products or licensed services in the therapeutic
field in connection with clinical and regulatory milestones. In the diagnostic field, the Company may be required to pay JHU aggregate milestone fees of
$400,000 for the first licensed product, or licensed service and reduced milestone fees for the second and third licensed products, or licensed services in
connection with regulatory and commercial milestones. The Company may be required to pay JHU aggregate milestone fees of $100,000 for commercial
milestones for the first licensed product or licensed service in the non-clinical field. In the aggregate, the Company may be required to pay JHU additional
milestone fees of up to $4.2 million for all clinical, regulatory and commercial milestones for all licensed products or licensed services in the therapeutic
field, the diagnostic field and the non-clinical field. The Company may also be required to pay royalties in the low to upper mid-single digits on net sales of
therapeutic products, diagnostic products and non-clinical products. The Company is required to make minimum annual royalty payments of $100,000 to
JHU for the remainder of the term of under the A&R JHU License Agreement; the amount of the minimum annual royalty payment started in the low five
figures in the first year of the agreement and increased to $100,000 in the third year of the agreement. The Company may also be required to pay JHU a
low double digit percentage of any non-royalty sublicense consideration we receive.
The Company has incurred $400,000 in cumulative minimum royalties from inception, which royalties offset future royalties per above owed to
JHU. Future annual minimum royalties consist of $100,000 due each year during the remaining term of the A&R JHU License Agreement. The Company
records milestones, royalties and minimum royalties at the time when payments become probable. During the three and nine months ended September 30,
2021 and 2020, the Company incurred $25,000 and $75,000, respectively, related to minimum royalties owed, included in research and development
expenses on the accompanying statement of operations. The Company has accrued royalties of $25,000 as of September 30, 2021.
The Company will record a liability when such events become probable of occurring. The Company has not reached any of the milestones or
transacted its first commercial sale as of September 30, 2021.
Paycheck Protection Program Loan
On April 23, 2020, the Company applied for an unsecured $843,619 loan under the Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP Loan”). The Paycheck
Protection Program (or “PPP”) was established under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) and is administered by the
U.S. Small Business Administration (“SBA”). On May 1, 2020, the PPP Loan was approved and funded. The Company entered into a promissory note of
$843,619, which is recorded within other current liabilities in the accompanying balance sheet. The Company treats the PPP Loan as debt under ASC 470.
The use of loan proceeds must be for payroll costs, payment of interest on covered mortgage obligations, rent and utility costs over either an eight-week or
24-week period, at the Company’s option.
The PPP Loan had a maturity date of April 23, 2022 and accrued interest at an annual rate of 0.98%. Interest and principal payments were deferred
for the first six months of the loan. Thereafter, monthly interest and principal payments were due until the loan is fully satisfied. The promissory note
evidencing the PPP Loan contained customary events of default resulting from, among other things, default in the payments.
The PPP Loan indebtedness may be forgiven in whole or in part upon request and the Company must provide documentation in accordance with the
SBA requirements and the Company must certify that the amounts requested to be forgiven qualify under those requirements. The SBA may approve or
deny the Company’s loan forgiveness application, in whole or part. The amount of potential loan forgiveness may be reduced if the Company fails to
maintain employee and salary levels during the applicable eight-week or 24-week period following receipt of the loan proceeds. The Company submitted
the PPP Loan forgiveness application in March 2021 and received full forgiveness of the $843,619 PPP Loan in July 2021. The Company recognized the
$843,619 forgiveness as a gain on extinguishment of debt for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021.
Contingencies
From time to time, the Company may be subject to various litigation and related matters arising in the ordinary course of business. The Company
records a provision for a liability when it believes that it is both probable that a liability has been
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incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. Significant judgment is required to determine both probability and the estimated amount. As of
September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Company was not involved in any material legal proceedings.
9. Convertible Notes
In April 2020, the Company entered into Convertible Note Purchase Agreement (“Agreement”) for the sale of up to $15,000,000 of convertible
promissory notes with 6% interest rate (“Convertible Notes”). The Agreement specified an initial closing date of April 23, 2020 and allowed additional
closings within 90 days of the initial closing. The Convertible Notes were scheduled to mature on April 23, 2021. During the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2020, the Company issued convertible notes with a principal amount of $4,380,000 and $10,918,286, respectively.
The terms of the Convertible Notes require a mandatory conversion upon certain qualified financing events (“Mandatory Conversion”) and allowed
for conversion at the option of the holder upon certain non-qualified financing events (“Optional Conversion 1”). Upon Mandatory Conversion and
Optional Conversion 1, the outstanding principal amount and all accrued and unpaid interest would automatically convert into the Company’s preferred
stock of the same series issued in such equity financing and will be equal to the number of preferred stock obtained by dividing (a) all principal and accrued
but unpaid interest under such Convertible Note by (b) the price per share paid by the other purchasers of the preferred stock sold in such equity financing
multiplied by 80%.
If the Mandatory Conversion and Optional Conversion 1 did not occur by the maturity date, the outstanding principal amount plus all accrued and
unpaid interest would be converted at the option of the holder into Company’s common stock at the price per share obtained by dividing $85 million by the
Company’s fully-diluted capitalization (“Optional Conversion 2”).
If the Company (i) consummates a change in control or (ii) the Company’s common stock becomes publicly listed on a stock exchange, the
outstanding principal amount plus all accrued and unpaid interest would automatically convert into shares of the Company’s most senior series of capital
stock outstanding at the time of such change in control or public listing, at a price equal to the lower of (a) 90% of the price per share paid by the
purchasers of such stock in such a transaction and (b) the price per share obtained by dividing $125 million by the Company’s fully-diluted capitalization
(“Change in Control”).
The Agreement was amended in July 2020 to increase the aggregate principal amount to $50,000,000 convertible notes and to allow for additional
closings within 150 days of the initial closing date. The Agreement was amended in September 2020 to allow for additional closings within 190 days of the
initial closing date. In addition, the provisions of Mandatory Conversion and Optional Conversion 1 were amended to allow for conversion upon an equity
financing at a price equal to the lower of (a) 80% of the price per share paid by the purchasers of such stock in such a transaction and (b) the price per share
obtained by dividing $125,000,000 by the Company’s fully-diluted capitalization. The Company evaluated the amendments and concluded that the
amendments represented a debt modification.
In October 2020, the Agreement was further amended to allow additional closings through December 31, 2020, and in January 2021 it was amended
again to allow closings through January 31, 2021. In January 2021, the Company issued convertible notes with a principal amount of $9,031,480.
The Company evaluated the Convertible Notes and determined that the Mandatory Conversion feature, Optional Conversion 1 feature and Change in
Control meet the definition of an embedded derivative liability that is required to be bifurcated from the host instrument and measured at fair value. The
fair value of the derivative liability for the convertible notes issued in January 2021 was $722,518 and $803,908 and $879,492 for the convertible notes
issued during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, respectively.
The Company recognized debt issuance costs of $256,212 and a debt discount of $1,982,594 from of the initial value of the derivative liability on
Convertible Notes outstanding during the nine months ended September 30, 2021. No amounts were recognized during the three months ended September
30, 2021 as no Convertible Notes were outstanding during the period. The Company recognized debt issuance costs of $93,998 and a debt discount of
$185,976, comprising the additional value of the derivative liability discount of $185,976 and the beneficial conversion feature of $0 on Convertible Notes
outstanding during the three months ended September 30, 2020. The Company recognized debt issuance costs of $183,892 and a debt discount of
$1,547,880, comprising the total value of the derivative liability discount of $482,248 and the beneficial conversion feature of $1,065,632 on Convertible
Notes outstanding during the nine months ended September 30, 2020.
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The debt issuance costs and debt discount are amortized over the term of the Convertible Notes using the effective interest method. Amortization
expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 was $0 and $613,770, respectively. Amortization expense for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2020 was $414,622 and $555,450, respectively. The debt issuance costs and debt discount amortization expense is included in interest
expense in the accompanying statements of operations.
The interest expense at 6% of the Convertible Notes’ principal amount for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 was $0 and
$217,593, respectively. The interest expense at 6% of the Convertible Notes’ principal amount for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020
was $140,818 and $183,182, respectively. The effective interest rate during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 was 25% and
27% respectively. The unamortized debt issuance costs and debt discount on the Convertible Notes as of September 30, 2020 were $134,238 and
$1,042,090, respectively and as of December 31, 2020, were $116,636 and $2,383,986, respectively.
The Company completed an IPO on February 11, 2021, which triggered the mandatory conversion of all the outstanding Convertible Notes plus
accrued interest into 3,669,010 shares of common stock (Note 10). Upon conversion of the Convertible Notes, the outstanding Convertible notes principal
plus accrued interest thereon, net of unamortized debt discounts totaling $30,252,056 was reclassified to stockholders’ equity (deficit).
10. Series A Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Issuances of Common Stock
On February 11, 2021, the Company completed its IPO, pursuant to which it issued and sold 7,441,650 shares of its common stock at a public
offering price of $17.00 per share, resulting in net proceeds of $114,551,315, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering
expenses. Upon the closing of the IPO, all of the 175,137,398 outstanding shares of the Company’s Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock automatically
converted into 10,144,052 shares of common stock after giving effect to the reverse stock split, and all of the outstanding convertible debt and accrued but
unpaid interest thereon of $31,272,224 converted to 3,669,010 shares of common stock. Upon completion of the offering on February 11, 2021, the
Company’s authorized capital stock consists of 250,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, and 10,000,000 shares of preferred
stock, par value $0.0001 per share, all of which shares of preferred stock are undesignated.
In January 2021, 145,000 warrants were exercised at an exercise price of $0.01 and 145,000 shares of Series A redeemable convertible stock were
issued and then converted into common stock upon the closing of the IPO. The remaining outstanding warrants outstanding as of December 31, 2020 were
exercised and settled in January 2021 with 2,896 shares of common stock issued in a cashless exercise.
11. Stock-Based Compensation
During January 2017, the Company adopted the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (“2017 Plan”), which provides for granting of restricted stock, options to
purchase shares of common stock and other awards to employees, directors and consultants. In March 2017, the Company amended the 2017 Plan to
increase the number of available shares to 660,838. In September 2018, the Company adopted the 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (“2018 Plan”) which
provides for granting of restricted stock, options to purchase shares of common stock, and other awards to employees, directors and consultants, and
reserved 1,741,770 shares for this purpose. The 2018 Plan was amended in July 2018 to increase the number of available shares to 1,809,143. In February
2021, the Company adopted the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (“2021 Plan”) and reserved 2,757,556 shares under the plan. No further shares will be issued
under the 2017 and 2018 plans. There are 1,256,043 shares available for issuance under the 2021 plan.
The number of options to be granted under the 2021 Plan, the option exercise prices, and other terms of the options are determined by the Board of
Directors in accordance with the terms of the 2021 Plan Generally, stock options are granted at fair value, become exercisable over a period of one to four
years, expire in ten years or less and are subject to the employee’s continued employment.
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Stock-based compensation expense was recorded in the following financial statement line items within the statement of operations for the period
ended September 30, 2021 and 2020:
Three Months Ended September 30,
2021

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2020

2021

2020

Research and development expenses

$

719,768
908,662

$

62,383
222,075

$

1,572,882
2,736,474

$

General and administrative expenses
Total stock-based compensation expense

228,833
714,377

$

1,628,430

$

284,458

$

4,309,356

$

943,210

The following is a summary of option activity under the Company’s Stock Option Plans:

Stock
Options

Outstanding as of January 1, 2021

2,233,185 $
1,503,013
(197,041)
(1,699)
(196,831)

Granted
Exercised
Cancelled
Forfeited
Outstanding as of September 30, 2021
Vested or expected to vest as of September 30, 2021
Exercisable as of September 30, 2021
Shares unvested as of September 30, 2021

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term (years)

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(millions)

3.52
16.78
3.37
4.78
4.94

3,340,627

$

9.41

7.9

22.0

3,340,627
1,672,745
1,667,862

$
$
$

9.41
3.35
15.49

7.9
6.5
9.3

22.0
19.8
2.2

The weighted average fair value of the options granted during the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 was $11.40 and $4.01,
respectively. The options were valued using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 with the
following assumptions:
2021

Expected volatility

79.5% to 81.1%
0.6% to 1.1%
0%
5.5 to 6.0 years

Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividend yield
Expected term

2020

100 %
0.7% to 0.74 %
0%
5.3 to 6.0 years

The total fair value of stock options vested during the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 was approximately $1.2 million, and $0.7
million, respectively. The intrinsic value of stock options exercised for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 was approximately $2.0
million and $0, respectively.
As of September 30, 2021, there was $14.2 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested options that will be recognized
over a weighted average period of 2.7 years.
12. Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders
Basic net loss per common share is determined by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of
common shares outstanding during the period, without consideration of common stock equivalents. Diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing net
loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common stock and common stock equivalents outstanding for the period. The
Company adjusts net loss to arrive at the net loss attributable to common stockholders to reflect the amount of dividends accumulated during the period on
the Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock. Such dividends are only payable if and when declared by the Board of Directors. The treasury stock
method is used to determine the dilutive effect of the Company’s stock option grants and warrants and the if-converted method is used to determine the
dilutive effect of the Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock and Convertible Notes. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021
and 2020, the Company had a net loss
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attributable to common stockholders, and as such, all outstanding stock options and shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock were excluded from
the calculation of diluted loss per share. Under the if-converted method, convertible instruments that are in the money, are assumed to have been converted
as of the beginning of the period or when issued, if later.
Additionally, the effects of any interest expense and changes in fair value of bifurcated derivatives is added back to the numerator of the diluted net loss per
share calculation if the conversion of the Convertible Notes is dilutive. The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per
share for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020:
Three Months Ended September 30,
2021

2020

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021

2020

Net loss

$

Accumulated dividends on Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock
Net loss attributable to common stockholders

(14,647,112) $
—

(8,608,735) $
(824,781)

(35,375,910) $
(377,562)

(21,854,768)
(2,456,413)

$

(14,647,112) $

(9,433,516) $

(35,753,472) $

(24,311,181)

Basic and diluted net loss per common share

$

(0.65) $
22,653,410

(7.52) $
1,254,808

(1.85) $
19,335,170

(19.38)
1,254,724

Basic and diluted weighted average common shares outstanding

The following potentially dilutive securities outstanding at September 30, 2021 and 2020 have been excluded from the computation of diluted
weighted average common shares outstanding, as the effect would be anti-dilutive:
Three Months Ended September 30,
2021

Stock options
Redeemable convertible preferred stock
Convertible debt
Warrants
Total

2020

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021

2020

3,340,627
—
—
—

2,237,420
10,135,735
1,542,484
14,480

3,340,627
1,560,635
679,404
201

2,237,420
10,135,735
674,746
14,480

3,340,627

13,930,119

5,580,867

13,062,381

Shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock also participate in dividends with shares of common stock (if and when declared) and therefore are
deemed participating securities. The holders of redeemable convertible preferred stock do not contractually share in losses and therefore no additional net
loss per share has been disclosed under the two-class method.
13. Income Taxes
The Company has not recorded any tax provision or benefit for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020. The Company has
provided a valuation allowance for the full amount of its net deferred tax assets since realization of any future benefit from deductible temporary
differences, net operating loss carryforwards, and research and development credits is not more-likely-than-not to be realized at September 30, 2021 and
December 31, 2021. The effective tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 is 0%.
The Company has not recorded any accruals related to uncertain tax positions as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020. Income tax returns
are filed in federal and state jurisdictions and generally subject to a three-year statute of limitations. The years that are subject to examination by tax
authorities are tax years 2017 through 2020, although tax years dating back to 2015 remain open to the tax attribute amounts carried forward for future use.
14. Employee Benefit Plan
The Company has a defined contribution plan under the Internal Revenue Code Section 401(k). The plan covers all employees who meet minimum
age and service requirements and allows participants to defer a portion of their annual compensation on a pre-tax basis. The Company may contribute a
matching contribution at its discretion. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, the Company made contributions of $54,506 and
$184,476, respectively, to the plan. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, the Company made contributions of $37,071, and
$125,553, respectively, to the plan.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our financial statements and
related notes appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our final prospectus for our initial public offering filed pursuant to Rule
424(b)(4) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, on February 11, 2021 (“Prospectus”). Some of the information contained in
this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this Form 10-Q, including information with respect to our plans and strategy for our business and
related financing, includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. As a result of many factors, including those factors set forth in
the “Risk Factors” section of this Form 10-Q, our actual results could differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking
statements contained in the following discussion and analysis.
Investors and others should note that we routinely use the Investor Relations section of our website to announce material information to investors
and the marketplace. While not all of the information that we post on the Investor Relations section of our website is of a material nature, some information
could be deemed to be material. Accordingly, we encourage investors, the media, and others interested in us to review the information that it shares on the
Investor Relations section of our website, www.neximmune.com.
Overview
We are a clinical-stage biotechnology company developing a novel approach to immunotherapy designed to employ the body’s own T cells to
generate a specific, potent and durable immune response that mimics natural biology. Our mission is to create therapies with curative potential for patients
with cancer and other life-threatening immune-mediated diseases. Currently, we have two product candidates in human trials: NEXI-001 in acute myeloid
leukemia, or AML, and NEXI-002 in multiple myeloma, or MM.
We were incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware on June 7, 2011. In June 2011, we exclusively licensed the core AIM technology from
The Johns Hopkins University, or Johns Hopkins. See “Business—Johns Hopkins License Agreement” for information about this license.
To date, we have devoted substantially all of our resources to organizing and staffing our company, business planning, raising capital, identifying
and developing product candidates, enhancing our intellectual property portfolio, undertaking research, conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials,
and securing manufacturing for our development programs. We do not have any products approved for sale and have not generated any revenue from
product sales.
To date, we have funded our operations primarily with proceeds from private placement of convertible preferred stock, our convertible promissory
notes and the IPO. In February 2021, we completed the IPO and issued and sold an aggregate 7,441,650 shares of common stock, which included 970,650
shares of our common stock issued pursuant to the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares, at a public offering price of $17.00 per share, for net
proceeds of $114.6 million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering costs.
We have incurred significant operating losses since our inception, which are mainly attributed to research and development costs and employee
payroll expense included in general and administrative expenses. As of September 30, 2021, we had an accumulated deficit of $112.2 million. Our
operating losses may fluctuate significantly from quarter-to-quarter and year-to-year as a result of several factors, including the timing of our preclinical
studies and clinical trials and our expenditures related to other research and development activities. We expect to continue to incur operating losses for the
foreseeable future. We anticipate these losses will increase substantially as we advance our product candidates through preclinical and clinical
development, develop additional product candidates and seek regulatory approvals for our product candidates. We do not expect to generate any revenues
from product sales unless and until we successfully complete development and obtain regulatory approval for one or more product candidates. In addition,
if we obtain marketing approval for any product candidate, we expect to incur pre-commercialization expenses and significant commercialization expenses
related to marketing, sales, manufacturing and distribution We may also incur expenses in connection with the in-licensing of additional product
candidates. Furthermore, we expect to incur additional costs associated with operating as a public company, including significant legal, accounting, investor
relations, compliance and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company.
As a result, we will need substantial additional funding to support our continuing operations and pursue our growth strategy. Until such time as we
can generate significant revenue from sales of our product candidates, if ever, we expect to finance our cash needs through public or private equity
offerings, debt financings, collaborations and licensing arrangements or other capital sources. However, we may be unable to raise additional funds or enter
into such other arrangements when needed on favorable terms or at all. Our failure to raise capital or enter into such other arrangements as and when
needed would have a
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negative impact on our financial condition and could force us to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development or future commercialization
efforts or grant rights to develop and market our product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves.
Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with pharmaceutical product development, we are unable to accurately predict the timing
or amount of increased expenses or when or if we will be able to achieve or maintain profitability. Even if we are able to generate product sales, we may
not become profitable. If we fail to become profitable or are unable to sustain profitability on a continuing basis, we may be unable to continue our
operations at planned levels and be forced to reduce or terminate our operations.
As of September 30, 2021, we had cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities of $93.2 million.
Components of our Results of Operations
Revenue
We have not generated any revenue since our inception and do not expect to generate any revenue from the sale of products in the near future, if at
all.
Research and Development Expenses
To date, our research and development expenses, have related primarily to development of NEXI-001 and NEXI-002, preclinical studies and other
preclinical activities related to our portfolio. Research and development expenses are recognized as incurred and payments made prior to the receipt of
goods or services to be used in research and development are capitalized until the goods or services are received. Research and development expenses also
include the accrual of minimum royalties under our Johns Hopkins license.
Research and development expenses include:
•

salaries, payroll taxes, employee benefits and stock-based compensation charges for those individuals involved in research and development
efforts;

•

external research and development expenses incurred under agreements with contract research organizations, or CROs, and consultants to
conduct our preclinical, toxicology and other preclinical studies;

•

laboratory supplies;

•

costs related to manufacturing product candidates, including fees paid to third-party manufacturers and raw material suppliers;

•

license fees and research funding; and

•

facilities, depreciation and other allocated expenses, which include direct and allocated expenses for rent, maintenance of facilities, insurance,
equipment and other supplies.

Clinical trial and preclinical study costs are a significant component of research and development expenses and include costs associated with thirdparty contractors. We outsource a substantial portion of our clinical trial activities, utilizing external entities such as CROs, independent clinical
investigators and other third-party service providers to assist us with the execution of our clinical trials. We also expect to incur additional expenses related
to milestone and royalty payments payable to Johns Hopkins.
We plan to substantially increase our research and development expenses for the foreseeable future as we continue the development of our product
candidates and seek to discover and develop new product candidates. Due to the inherently unpredictable nature of preclinical and clinical development, we
cannot determine with certainty the timing of the initiation, duration or costs of future clinical trials and preclinical studies of product candidates. Clinical
and preclinical development timelines, the probability of success and the amount of development costs can differ materially from expectations. We
anticipate that we will make determinations as to which product candidates and development programs to pursue and how much funding to direct to each
product candidate or program on an ongoing basis in response to the results of ongoing and future preclinical studies and clinical trials, regulatory
developments and our ongoing assessments as to each product candidate’s commercial potential. In addition, we cannot forecast which product candidates
may be subject to future collaborations, when such arrangements will be secured, if at all, and to what degree such arrangements would affect our
development plans and capital requirements.
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Our future clinical development costs may vary significantly based on factors such as:
•

per-patient trial costs;

•

the number of trials required for regulatory approval;

•

the number of sites included in the trials;

•

the countries in which the trials are conducted;

•

the length of time required to enroll eligible patients;

•

the number of patients that participate in the trials;

•

the number of doses that patients receive;

•

the drop-out or discontinuation rates of patients;

•

potential additional safety monitoring requested by regulatory agencies;

•

the duration of patient participation in the trials and follow-up;

•

the phase of development of the product candidate; and

•

the efficacy and safety profile of the product candidate.

General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and employee-related costs, including stock-based compensation, for personnel in
our executive, finance and other administrative functions. Other significant costs include facility related costs, legal fees relating to intellectual property
and corporate matters, professional fees for accounting and consulting services and insurance costs. We anticipate that our general and administrative
expenses will increase in the future to support our continued research and development activities, pre-commercialization and, if any product candidates
receive marketing approval, commercialization activities. We also anticipate increased expenses related to audit, legal, regulatory and tax-related services
associated with maintaining compliance with exchange listing and SEC requirements, director and officer insurance premiums and investor relations costs
associated with operating as a public company.
Interest Income
Interest income consists of interest earned on our cash equivalents and marketable securities during the period.
Interest Expense
Interest expense consists of interest accrued on the convertible notes and interest recognized upon the amortization of the beneficial conversion
feature, debt issuance costs and bifurcated derivative liability.
Change in Fair Value of Derivative Liability
The change in fair value of derivative liability consists entirely of the mark-to-market adjustment of the bifurcated derivative liability related to the
convertible notes. As a result of our IPO, the derivative liability was settled.
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Results of Operations
Comparison of the Three Months Ended September 30, 2021 and 2020
The following table summarizes our results of operations for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020:
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2021
2020

Change

(in thousands)

Operating expenses
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses

$

Loss from operations
Other (expense) income:
Interest income
Change in fair value of derivative liability
Gain on extinguishment of debt
Interest expense
Other (expense) income
Other (expense) income
Net loss

$

11,331
4,159

$

4,913
2,752

$

6,418
1,407

15,490

7,665

7,825

(15,490)

(7,665)

(7,825)

20
—
844
(1)
(19)

1
(397)
—
(559)
12

19
397
844
558
(31)

843

(943)

1,787

(14,647) $

(8,609) $

(6,038)

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses were $11.3 million and $4.9 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The increase of $6.4 million was due primarily to increases of $4.3 million for research and clinical trial
expenses, increases to salary and benefits of $1.0 million resulting from increased headcount, $0.7 million in stock compensation expense, and $0.4 million
in consulting fees. We have not historically tracked internal research and development expenses by product candidate.
General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses were $4.2 million and $2.8 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The increase of $1.4 million was due primarily to increases of $0.6 million in salary and benefits resulting from
increased headcount, $0.6 million in stock compensation expense, and an increase of $0.9 million in professional fees and Directors and Officers insurance
as a result of operating as public company, offset by a reduction of $0.8 million in legal and consulting fees.
Change in Fair Value of Derivative Liability. The change in fair value of derivative liability was $0 and $0.4 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The decrease reflected the issuance of convertible debt during 2020 and the separately valued derivative which
did not exist for the three months ended September 30, 2021.
Gain on Extinguishment of Debt. The gain on extinguishment of debt was $0.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2021. The gain was
due to the PPP Loan forgiveness of $0.8 million. The was no debt extinguishment for the three months ended September 30, 2020.
Interest Expense. Interest expense decreased by $0.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2021. The increase is due to the issuance of
convertible debt during the period from April 2020 into January 2021. The convertible notes were converted into shares of common stock upon the
completion of the IPO in February 2021.
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Comparison of the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2021 and 2020
The following table summarizes our results of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020:
Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2021

2020

Change

(in thousands)

Operating expenses
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses

$

Loss from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Change in fair value of derivative liability
Gain on extinguishment of debt
Interest expense
Other (expense) income
Other income (expense)

25,469
12,255

$

$

$

12,074
4,849

37,724

20,801

16,923

(37,724)

(20,801)

(16,923)

30
2,425
844
(905)
(46)

21
(397)
—
(744)
66

10
2,822
844
(161)
(112)

2,348

Net loss

13,394
7,406

(35,376) $

(1,054)
(21,855) $

3,402
(13,521)

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses were $25.5 million and $13.4 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The increase of $12.1 million was due primarily to increases of $7.8 million for research and clinical trial
expenses, increases to salary and benefits of $2.2 million resulting from increased headcount, $1.3 million in stock compensation expense, and $0.8 million
in consulting fees. We have not historically tracked internal research and development expenses by product candidate.
General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses were $12.3 million and $7.4 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The increase of $4.8 million was due primarily to increases of $2.0 million in stock compensation expense, an
increase in insurance coverage of $1.8 million for Directors and Officers insurance, an increase to salary and benefits of $1.1 million from increased
headcount, and an increase of $0.9 million in professional fees, offset by a reduction of $1.0 million in legal and consulting fees.
Change in Fair Value of Derivative Liability. The change in fair value of derivative liability was an increase of $2.4 million and a decrease $0.4 for
the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The increase reflected the remeasurement of the derivative liability immediately before
the conversion of the convertible notes into shares of common stock upon the completion of the IPO in February 2021. Following the IPO there are no
derivative instruments.
Gain on Extinguishment of Debt. The gain on extinguishment of debt was $0.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021. The increase
was due to the PPP Loan forgiveness of $0.8 million. The was no debt extinguishment for the nine months ended September 30, 2020.
Interest Expense. Interest expense was $0.9 million and $0.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The
increase is due to the issuance of convertible debt during the period from April 2020 into January 2021. The convertible notes were converted into shares of
common stock upon the completion of the IPO in February 2021.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
We have incurred net losses and negative cash flows from operations since our inception and anticipate we will continue to incur net losses for the
foreseeable future. As of September 30, 2021, we had cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities of $93.2 million.
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Sources of Liquidity
To date, we have financed our operations principally through private placements of our redeemable convertible preferred stock, our convertible
promissory notes and the IPO.
Series A Preferred Stock Financing
From December 2017 through August 2018, we issued an aggregate of 121,735,303 shares of our Series A Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock
at a purchase price of $0.2951 per share for aggregate consideration of $25.0 million plus conversion of convertible notes.
In January 2019 and February 2019, we issued an aggregate of 22,047,361 shares of our Series A-2 Preferred Stock at a purchase price of $0.3523
per share for aggregate consideration of $7.8 million.
In November 2019 and December 2019, we issued an aggregate of 31,209,734 shares of our Series A-3 Preferred Stock at a purchase price of
$0.3523 per share for aggregate consideration of $11.0 million.
Convertible Note Financing
From April 2020 through December 31, 2020, we issued $21,618,286 aggregate principal amount of convertible notes, which bear interest at the rate
of 6% per annum and mature in April 2021.
In January 2021, we issued an additional $9,031,480 aggregate principal amount of convertible notes, which bore interest at the rate of 6% per
annum and had a scheduled maturity date in April 2021.
Paycheck Protection Program Loan
On April 23, 2020, we entered into an unsecured loan agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank, or Chase, under the terms of which Chase loaned us
$843,619, or the PPP Loan, pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program, or PPP, under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, or
CARES Act. In accordance with the requirements of the CARES Act, we used the proceeds primarily for payroll costs and other eligible expenses. The
PPP Loan had a maturity date of April 23, 2022 and accrued interest at an annual rate of 0.98%. Interest and principal payments were deferred for the first
six months of the loan. Thereafter, monthly interest and principal payments were due until the loan is fully satisfied. The promissory note evidencing the
PPP Loan contained customary events of default resulting from, among other things, default in the payments. The use of loan proceeds must be for payroll
costs, payment of interest on covered mortgage obligations, rent and utility costs over either an eight-week or 24-week period, at our option, following our
receipt of the loan proceeds. We elected to use the proceeds over a 24-week period. We treat the PPP loan as debt under ASC 470, Debt. The CARES Act
and the PPP provide a mechanism for forgiveness of up to the full amount borrowed. We submitted the PPP Loan forgiveness application in March 2021.
The Company submitted the PPP Loan forgiveness application in March 2021 and received full forgiveness from the $843,619 loan under the PPP in July
2021.
Initial Public Offering
In February 2021, we completed the IPO and issued and sold an aggregate 7,441,650 shares of common stock, which included 970,650 shares of our
common stock issued pursuant to the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares, at a public offering price of $17.00 per share, for net proceeds of
$114.6 million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering costs.
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Cash Flows
The following table sets forth a summary of the net cash flow activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020:
2021

2020
(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

$

$

(34.3) $
(57.8)
124.4
32.2

$

(19.2)
0.4
11.6
(7.1)

Operating Activities
Net cash used in operating activities was $34.3 million and $19.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The
net cash used in operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 was primarily due to our net loss of $35.4 million, resulting
from R&D expenses of $25.5 million as we ramp up our clinical program plus $4.5 million in prepaid R&D and insurance and $12.3 million of
administrative expenses for public company expenses, salary and related expenses and professional fees.
The net cash used in operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 was primarily due to our net loss of $21.9 million, consisting
of $13 million for R&D expenses primarily in preclinical research expenses and manufacturing as we prepared for our clinical program, and $7.4 million in
administrative expenses for salary and related expenses and professional fees.
Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities was $57.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 resulting from purchases of marketable
securities and property and equipment. Net cash provided by investing activities of $0.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 was
primarily due to maturities of available-for-sale marketable securities of $1.0 million, partially offset by the purchase of property and equipment for $0.6
million.
Financing Activities
Net cash provided by financing activities was $124.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 primarily due to the net proceeds of
$114.7 million from the IPO and $9.0 million from the issuance of convertible debt. Net cash provided by financing activities was $11.6 million for the
nine months ended September 30, 2020 primarily due to the net proceeds of $10.7 million from issuance of convertible debt and $0.8 million in short-term
debt.
Funding Requirements
We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, together with the net proceeds from our IPO, will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash
requirements for at least twelve months from the issuance of these financial statements. However, our forecast of the period of time through which our
financial resources will be adequate to support our operations is a forward-looking statement that involves risks and uncertainties, and actual results could
vary materially. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could deplete our capital resources sooner than we expect.
Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:
•

the initiation, progress, timing, costs and results of drug discovery, preclinical studies and clinical trials of NEXI-001 and NEXI-002 and any
other future product candidates;

•

the number and characteristics of product candidates that we pursue;

•

the outcome, timing and costs of seeking regulatory approvals;

•

the cost of manufacturing NEXI-001 and NEXI-002 and future product candidates for clinical trials in preparation for marketing approval and
in preparation for commercialization;
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•

the costs associated with hiring additional personnel and consultants as our preclinical and clinical activities increase;

•

the emergence of competing therapies and other adverse market developments;

•

the ability to establish and maintain strategic licensing or other arrangements and the financial terms of such agreement;

•

the costs involved in preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining, expanding, defending and enforcing patent claims, including litigation costs
and the outcome of such litigation;

•

the extent to which we in-license or acquire other products and technologies; and

•

the costs of operating as a public company.

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenues to support our capital requirements, we expect to finance our cash needs
through cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities on hand and a combination of public or private equity offerings, debt financings,
collaborations and licensing arrangements or other capital sources. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible
debt securities, the ownership interest of our stockholders will be or could be diluted, and the terms of these securities may include liquidation or other
preferences that adversely affect the rights of our common stockholders. Debt financing and equity financing, if available, may involve agreements that
include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring
dividends. If we raise funds through collaborations, or other similar arrangements with third parties, we may need to relinquish valuable rights to our
product candidates, future revenue streams or research programs or may have to grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us and/or may reduce
the value of our common stock. If we are unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt financings as and when needed, we may be required to
delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development or future commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop and market our product candidates
even if we would otherwise prefer to develop and market such product candidates ourselves.
Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates
Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and
judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in our financial
statements. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including those related to accrued expenses and stock-based compensation. We
base our estimates on historical experience, known trends and events, and various other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Our actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
While our significant accounting policies are described in more detail in Note 3, “Summary of significant accounting policies”, and in our Form 10K for the year ended December 31, 2020, we believe the following accounting policies and estimates to be most critical to the preparation of our financial
statements.
Stock-Based Compensation Expense
Stock-based compensation expense represents the cost of the grant date fair value of equity awards recognized over the requisite service period of
the awards (usually the vesting period) on a straight-line basis. We estimate the fair value of equity awards using the Black-Scholes option pricing model
and recognize forfeitures as they occur. Estimating the fair value of equity awards as of the grant date using valuation models, such as the Black-Scholes
option pricing model, is affected by assumptions regarding a number of variables, including the risk-free interest rate, the expected stock price volatility,
the expected term of stock options, the expected dividend yield and the fair value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. Changes in the
assumptions can materially affect the fair value and ultimately how much stock-based compensation expense is recognized. These inputs are subjective and
generally require significant analysis and judgment to develop. See Note 3, “Summary of significant accounting policies” contained in our Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, for information concerning certain of the specific assumptions we used in applying the BlackScholes option pricing model to determine the estimated fair value of our stock options granted for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021
and 2020.
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Common Stock Valuations
We are required to estimate the fair value of the common stock underlying our equity awards when performing fair value calculations. The fair value
of the common stock underlying our equity awards was determined on each grant date by our board of directors, taking into account input from
management and independent third-party valuation analyses. All options to purchase shares of our common stock are intended to be granted with an
exercise price per share no less than the fair value per share of our common stock underlying those options on the date of grant, based on the information
known to us on the date of grant. In the absence of a public trading market for our common stock, on each grant date we develop an estimate of the fair
value of our common stock in order to determine an exercise price for the option grants. Our determinations of the fair value of our common stock were
made using methodologies, approaches and assumptions consistent with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Accounting and Valuation
Guide: Valuation of Privately Held Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation, or the Practice Aid.
Our board of directors considered various objective and subjective factors, along with input from management, to determine the fair value of our
common stock, including:
•

valuations of our common stock performed with the assistance of independent third-party valuation specialists;

•

current and potential strategic relationships and licenses;

•

our stage of development and business strategy, including the status of research and development efforts of our product candidates, and the
material risks related to our business and industry;

•

our results of operations and financial position, including our levels of available capital resources;

•

the valuation of publicly traded companies in the life sciences and biotechnology sectors, as well as recently completed mergers and
acquisitions of peer companies;

•

the lack of marketability of our common stock as a private company;

•

the prices of preferred stock sold to investors in arm’s length transactions and the rights, preferences and privileges of our preferred stock
relative to those of our common stock;

•

the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event for the holders of our common stock, such as an initial public offering or a sale of our company,
given prevailing market conditions;

•

trends and developments in our industry; and

•

external market conditions affecting the life sciences and biotechnology industry sectors.

The Practice Aid prescribes several valuation approaches for setting the value of an enterprise, such as the cost, income and market
approaches, and various methodologies for allocating the value of an enterprise to its common stock. The cost approach establishes the value of an
enterprise based on the cost of reproducing or replacing the property less depreciation and functional or economic obsolescence, if present. The income
approach establishes the value of an enterprise based on the present value of future cash flows that are reasonably reflective of our future operations,
discounting to the present value with an appropriate risk-adjusted discount rate or capitalization rate. The market approach is based on the assumption that
the value of an asset is equal to the value of a substitute asset with the same characteristics. Each valuation methodology was considered in our valuations.
The various methods for allocating the enterprise value across our classes and series of capital stock to determine the fair value of our common stock
in accordance with the Practice Aid include the following:
Option Pricing Method, or OPM. Under the OPM, shares are valued by creating a series of call options with exercise prices based on the liquidation
preferences and conversion terms of each equity class. The values of the preferred and common stock are inferred by analyzing these options.
Probability-Weighted Expected Return Method, or PWERM. The PWERM is a scenario-based analysis that estimates the value per share based on
the probability-weighted present value of expected future investment returns, considering each of the possible outcomes available to us, as well as the
economic and control rights of each equity class.
In determining the fair value of our common stock underlying stock option grants for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we estimated
the enterprise value of our business using the back-solve method and the OPM to allocate enterprise value. The back-solve method is a market approach
that assigns an implied enterprise value based on the most recent round of funding or investment and allows for the incorporation of the implied future
benefits and risks of the investment
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decision assigned by an outside investor. We believed the OPM was the most appropriate method given the expectation of various potential liquidity
outcomes and the difficulty of selecting and supporting appropriate enterprise values given our early stage of development.
The determination of the fair value of our common stock after our IPO on February 11, 2021 is determined by the closing price our common stock
on the date of grant.
Other Company Information
Net Operating Loss and Research and Development Carryforwards and Other Income Tax Information
At December 31, 2020, we had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of $69.1 million. As of December 31, 2020, we also had federal
research credit carryforwards of $0.3 million. Approximately $10.5 million of the federal NOL was generated prior to 2018 and will expire in increments
through 2037 beginning in 2035, while the remaining $58.6 million will be carried forward indefinitely. The state NOL will expire in increments through
2037, beginning expiring in 2035. The federal research and development tax credit carryforwards, if not utilized, will expire beginning in 2037.
We believe that it is more likely than not that we will not realize the benefits of the deferred tax assets. Accordingly, a full valuation allowance has
been established against the net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2020. Management reevaluates the positive and negative evidence at each reporting
period.
We have not completed a Section 382 study to assess whether an ownership change has occurred or whether there have been multiple ownership
changes since our formation due to the complexity and cost associated with such a study and the fact that there may be additional such ownership changes
in the future. Pursuant to Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code, annual use of our net operating loss and research and development tax credit
carryforwards may be limited in the event a cumulative change in ownership of more than 50% occurs within a three-year period.
Emerging Growth Company and Smaller Reporting Company Status
We are an emerging growth company as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, as amended, or the JOBS Act. We will remain
an emerging growth company until the earlier of (1) December 31, 2026, (2) the last day of the fiscal year in which we have total annual gross revenues of
at least $1.07 billion, (3) the date on which we are deemed to be a “large accelerated filer” as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, or (4) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt securities during the prior
three-year period. An emerging growth company may take advantage of specified reduced reporting requirements and is relieved of certain other
significant requirements that are otherwise generally applicable to public companies. As an emerging growth company,
•

we may present only two years of audited financial statements, plus unaudited condensed financial statements for any interim period, and
related Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in this filing.

•

we may avail ourselves of the exemption from the requirement to obtain an attestation and report from our auditors on the assessment of our
internal control over financial reporting pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act;

•

we may provide reduced disclosure about our executive compensation arrangements; and

•

we may not require stockholder non-binding advisory votes on executive compensation or golden parachute arrangements.

We have elected to take advantage of certain of the reduced disclosure obligations in the registration statement of which this filing is a part and may
elect to take advantage of other reduced reporting requirements in future filings. As a result, the information that we provide to our stockholders may be
different than you might receive from other public reporting companies in which you hold equity interests.
Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can also delay adopting new or revised accounting standards until such time as those standards
apply to private companies, which may make our financial statements less comparable to companies that comply with new or revised accounting
pronouncements as of public company effective dates. Until the date that we are no longer an emerging growth company or affirmatively and irrevocably
opt out of the exemption provided by Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, upon issuance of a new or revised
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accounting standard that applies to our financial statements and that has a different effective date for public and private companies, we will disclose the
date on which we will adopt the recently issued accounting standard.
We are also a “smaller reporting company,” meaning that the market value of our stock held by non-affiliates plus the proposed aggregate amount of
gross proceeds to us as a result of the IPO was less than $700.0 million and our annual revenue is less than $100.0 million during the most recently
completed fiscal year. After the IPO we may continue to be a smaller reporting company if either (1) the market value of our stock held by non-affiliates is
less than $250.0 million or (2) our annual revenue is less than $100.0 million during the most recently completed fiscal year and the market value of our
stock held by non-affiliates is less than $700.0 million. If we are a smaller reporting company at the time we cease to be an emerging growth company, we
may continue to rely on exemptions from certain disclosure requirements that are available to smaller reporting companies. Specifically, as a smaller
reporting company we may choose to present only the two most recent fiscal years of audited financial statements in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
and, similar to emerging growth companies, smaller reporting companies have reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation.
Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
A description of recently issued and adopted accounting pronouncements that may potentially impact our financial position and results of operations
is disclosed in Note 2, “Basis of Presentation”.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
During the periods presented we did not have, nor do we currently have, any off-balance sheet arrangements as defined under SEC rules.
Item 3. Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk.
Not applicable
Item 4. Controls and Procedures.
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, or the Exchange Act, that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and
procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or
submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive and principal financial officers, or
persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our management recognizes that any controls
and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and our management
necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.
Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer (our principal executive officer) and our Chief Financial Officer (our
principal financial officer), evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of September 30, 2021. Based on the evaluation of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of September 30, 2021, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of such date, our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective.
Previously Identified Material Weakness and Management’s Plan for Remediation of Material Weakness
In preparation for our initial public offering, we identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting related to our control
environment. Specifically, we have determined that we have not maintained adequate formal accounting policies, processes and controls related to complex
transactions as a result of a lack of finance and accounting staff with the appropriate GAAP technical expertise needed to identify, evaluate and account for
complex and non-routine transactions. We also determined that we have not maintained sufficient staffing or written policies and procedures for accounting
and financial reporting, which contributed to the lack of a formalized process or controls for management’s timely review and approval of financial
information. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal
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control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not
be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.
More specifically, we have determined that our financial statement close process includes significant control gaps mainly driven by the small size of
our accounting and finance staff and, as a result, a significant lack of appropriate segregation of duties. We also determined that we have not maintained
sufficient staffing or written policies and procedures for accounting and financial reporting, which contributed to the lack of a formalized process or
controls for management’s timely review and approval of financial information.
With the oversight of senior management and our audit committee, we continue to evaluate our internal control over financial reporting and have taken
several remedial actions to address the material weakness that has been identified:
•
•

We have enhanced our process and controls around identifying and evaluating complex accounting issues and non-routine transactions; and
We have hired additional finance and accounting personnel with appropriate expertise to perform specific functions and intend to hire additional
personnel to further assist in the implementation of improved processes and internal controls, build our financial management and reporting
infrastructure and further develop and document our accounting policies and financial reporting procedures, including ongoing senior management
review and audit committee oversight.

Our management believes that the steps that we have taken and plan to continue to take, as described above, will improve our overall system of internal
control over financial reporting.
The process of designing and implementing an effective accounting and financial reporting system is a continuous effort that requires us to anticipate
and react to changes in our business and the economic and regulatory environments and to expend significant resources to maintain an accounting and
financial reporting system that is adequate to satisfy our reporting obligations. As we continue to evaluate and take actions to improve our internal control
over financial reporting, we may determine to take additional actions to address control deficiencies or determine to modify certain of the remediation
measures described above. We cannot assure you that the measures we have taken to date, or any measures we may take in the future, will be sufficient to
remediate the material weakness we have identified or avoid potential future material weaknesses.
Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting
Other than as described above, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange
Act) that occurred during the period covered by this filing that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
From time to time, we may become involved in litigation or other legal proceedings. We are not currently a party to any litigation or legal
proceedings that, in the opinion of our management, are likely to have a material adverse effect on our business. Regardless of outcome, litigation can have
an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.
Item 1A. Risk Factors.
Not applicable.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
Set forth below is information regarding shares of equity securities sold, and options granted, by us during the nine months ended September 30,
2021 that were not registered under the Securities Act.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Equity Securities
From January 1, 2021 to September 30, 2021, we issued the following unregistered securities, which have been adjusted, as appropriate, for the onefor-17.264895 reverse split that occurred on February 5, 2021:
1.
2.
3.

Prior to filing our registration statement on Form S-8 in February 2021, we sold an aggregate of 197,216 shares of common stock to employees,
consultants and directors for cash consideration in the aggregate amount of $0.6 million upon the exercise of stock options.
Prior to filing our registration statement on Form S-8 in February 2021, we granted stock options to certain of our employees, consultants and
directors under our 2021 Equity Incentive Plan covering an aggregate of 1,170,891 shares of common stock, at a weighted-average exercise price
of $17.00 per share.
In January 2021, we issued $9,031,480 aggregate principal amount of convertible notes to certain investors.

The offers, sales and issuances of the securities described in paragraphs (1) and (2) above were deemed exempt from registration under the Securities
Act either in reliance on Rule 701 of the Securities Act as sales and offers under compensatory benefit plans and contracts relating to compensation in
compliance with Rule 701, or in reliance on Section 4(a)(2), as transactions by an issuer not involving a public offering. All recipients either received
adequate information about our company or had access, through employment or other relationships, to such information. No underwriters were involved in
the foregoing issuances of securities. We filed a registration statement on Form S-8 under the Securities Act on February 25, 2021 to register all of the
shares of our common stock subject to outstanding options and all shares of our common stock otherwise issuable pursuant to our equity compensation
plan.
The offers, sales, and issuances of the securities described in paragraph (3) above were deemed to be exempt from registration under the Securities
Act in reliance on Section 4(2) of the Securities Act or Regulation D promulgated thereunder as transactions by an issuer not involving a public offering.
The recipients of securities in each of these transactions acquired the securities for investment only and not with a view to or for sale in connection with
any distribution thereof and appropriate legends were affixed to the securities issued in these transactions. Each of the recipients of securities in these
transactions was an accredited or sophisticated person and had adequate access, through employment, business or other relationships, to information about
us.
Use of Proceeds from Initial Public Offering
In February 2021, we completed the IPO and issued and sold an aggregate 7,441,650 shares of common stock, which included 970,650 shares of our
common stock issued pursuant to the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares, at a public offering price of $17.00 per share, for net proceeds of
$114.6 million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering costs.
The offer and sale of all of the shares of our common stock in our initial public offering of common stock, or the IPO, was effected through a
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333- 252220) that was declared effective by the SEC on February 11, 2021.
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None of the underwriting discounts and commissions or offering expenses were incurred or paid to directors or officers of ours or their associates or
to persons owning 10% or more of our common stock or to any of our affiliates. We have invested the net proceeds from the IPO in a money market fund.
There has been no material change in our planned use of the net proceeds from the IPO as described in our final prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4)
under the Securities Act with the SEC on February 11, 2021.
We have invested the net proceeds from the IPO in cash equivalents and available-for-sale marketable securities. There has been no material change
in our planned use of the net proceeds from the IPO as described in our final prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4) under the Securities Act with the
SEC on February 16, 2021.
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.
None.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
Item 5. Other Information.
None.
Item 6. Exhibits.
Exhibit
Number

Description

3.1

Form of Sixth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-40045) filed with the SEC on February 18, 2021)

3.2

Restated Bylaws of NexImmune, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No.
001-40045) filed with the SEC on February 18, 2021)

10.1

Form of Indemnification Agreement. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(File No. 333-252220) filed with the SEC on February 8, 2021)

10.2.1

2017 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2.1 of the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form
S-1 (File No. 333-252220) filed with the SEC on February 8, 2021)

10.2.2

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2.2 of the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-252220) filed with the SEC on February 8, 2021)

10.3.1

2018 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3.1 of the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form
S-1 (File No. 333-252220) filed with the SEC on February 8, 2021)

10.3.2

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2018 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3.2 of the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-252220) filed with the SEC on February 8, 2021)

10.4.1

2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4.1 of the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No.
333-252220) filed with the SEC on February 8, 2021)

10.4.2

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4.2 of the Registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-252220) filed with the SEC on February 8, 2021)

10.5

Employment Agreement, by and between the Registrant and Scott Carmer, dated February 3, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.5 of the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-252220) filed with the SEC on February 8, 2021)

10.6

Employment Agreement, by and between the Registrant and John Trainer, dated January 6, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.6 of the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-252220) filed with the SEC on February 8, 2021)
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10.7

Employment Agreement, by and between the Registrant and Jerome Zeldis, M.D., Ph.D., dated January 4, 2021 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.7 of the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-252220) filed with the SEC on February 8, 2021)

10.8

Employment Agreement, by and between the Registrant and Kristi Jones, dated February 27, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.8 of the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-252220) filed with the SEC on February 8, 2021)

10.9

Employment Agreement, by and between the Registrant and Robert Knight, M.D., dated January 6, 2021 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.9 of the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-252220) filed with the SEC on February 8, 2021)

10.10

Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q (File No. 001-40045) filed with the SEC on May 17, 2021)

31.1*

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2*

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002

32.1*
32.2*

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002

101.INS*

Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are
embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH*

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL*

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF*

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB*

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE*

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104

The cover page from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2021, has been formatted in
Inline XBRL.

*

Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
NEXIMMUNE, INC.
Date: November 12, 2021

By:

/s/ Scott Carmer
Scott Carmer
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: November 12, 2021

By:

/s/ John Trainer
John Trainer
Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION UNDER SECTION 302
I, Scott Carmer, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of NexImmune, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: November 12, 2021

By:

/s/ Scott Carmer
Scott Carmer
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION UNDER SECTION 302
I, John Trainer, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of NexImmune, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: November 12, 2021

By:

/s/ John Trainer
John Trainer
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION UNDER SECTION 906
Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1350, chapter 63 of title 18, United States Code), each of the
undersigned officers of NexImmune, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), does hereby certify, to such officer’s knowledge that:
The Quarterly Report for the period ended September 30, 2021 (the “Form 10-Q”) of the Company fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: November 12, 2021

By:

/s/ Scott Carmer
Scott Carmer
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION UNDER SECTION 906
Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1350, chapter 63 of title 18, United States Code), each of the
undersigned officers of NexImmune, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), does hereby certify, to such officer’s knowledge that:
The Quarterly Report for the period ended September 30, 2021 (the “Form 10-Q”) of the Company fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: November 12, 2021

By:

/s/ John Trainer
John Trainer
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

